IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIE COURT

	FEB 1 4 2011
THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE) Erederick K. Ohlrich Clerk
OF CALIFORNIA,) Supreme Court Deputy
Plaintiff and Respondent,) No. S185688)
v.) Court of Appeal) No. D056280
TOMMY ANGEL MESA,)) Superior Court
Defendant and Appellant.) No. RIF137046)
)

APPEAL FROM THE RIVERSIDE COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT HONORABLE HELIOS J. HERNANDEZ, JUDGE

APPELLANT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

COTT

RICHARD DE LA SOTA State Bar No. 45003 1140 Highland Avenue #137 Manhattan Beach, CA 90266 (310) 406-5752

Attorney for Appellant, Tommy Angel Mesa

By appointment of the Court of Appeal under the Appellate Defenders, Inc. assisted case system

TOPICAL

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant was convicted following a jury trial of a number of offenses stemming from his shooting and seriously wounding two people in two separate, unrelated incidents -- Galen White on April 27, 2007 and Alvin Pierre on April 29, 2007.

Specifically, appellant was convicted of two counts of assault with a firearm in violation of section 245, subdivision (a)(2) (Counts 2 and 6), two counts of being an ex-felon in possession of a firearm in violation of section 12021 (Counts 3 and 7), and two counts of actively participating in a criminal street gang in violation of section 186.22, subdivision (a) (Counts 4 and 8). One count of assault with a firearm (Count 2), one count of being an ex-felon in possession of a firearm (Count 3), and one count of being a participant in a criminal street gang (Count 4) related to the April 27 incident, and the other three counts (Counts 6, 7, and 8) related to the April 29 incident. In addition, appellant was convicted of a third count of violating section 12021 (Count 9) related to the recovery on the day he was arrested of the gun he used in the shootings. Allegations that appellant personally used a firearm within the meaning of section 12022.5 and inflicted great bodily injury within the meaning of section 12022.7 during the commission of the offenses charged in Counts 2 and 6 were found true. (2 CT 389-390; 4 RT 741-746.³

Allegations that appellant committed the crimes charged in Counts 2 and 3 for the benefit of a criminal street gang within the meaning of section 186.22, subdivision (b) were found true, but the jury deadlocked on the same

³ Counts 1 and 5 charged appellant with attempted premeditated and deliberate murder. The jury deadlocked as to those counts and the court declared a mistrial. (2 CT 389-390; 4 RT 741-746, 750.) The court later dismissed those counts pursuant to section 1385. (2 CT 470-471; 4 RT 764-768.)

allegations with respect to Counts 6 and 7. (2 CT 389-390; 4 RT 741-746.) The court later granted the prosecution's motion to dismiss the section 186.22, subdivision (b) allegations as to Counts 6 and 7. (2 CT 470-471; 4 RT 764-768.)

Appellant admitted that he had suffered the two prior felony convictions alleged against him pursuant to section 667.5, subdivision (b) and the court found them true based on appellant's admission. (2 CT 390; 4 RT 749-750.)

The trial court sentenced appellant to an aggregate determinate term of 39 years, eight months in state prison. The sentence included two terms of eight months each for appellant's convictions of violating section 186.22(a) consecutive to the sentences the court imposed for appellant's convictions for violating sections 245, subdivision (a)(2) and 12021. (2 CT 469-470; 4 RT 758-762.)

On appeal, the Court of Appeal, Fourth Appellate District, Division One, ruled in appellant's favor on two other sentencing issues and remanded for re-sentencing, but affirmed the imposition of consecutive sentences for the two counts of gang participation in violation of section 186.22(a).

This court granted appellant's petition for review on October 27, 2010.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The Court of Appeal opinion accurately describes the facts of the case. Briefly, on April 27, 2007, appellant accosted a man named Galen White by asking him, "Why are you walking tough in my neighborhood?" (1 RT 94-95, 107.) When White said he wasn't from that neighborhood, appellant pulled out a handgun and fired it three times, striking White once in the left side. (1 RT 101-104, 109.)

On April 29, 2007, appellant had just finished lunch with his girlfriend at a strip mall in Corona when he got into a loud argument with some people in

a passing car. (1 RT 198, 200-201.) When he saw Alvin Pierre, who happened to be passing by on his bicycle, appellant asked him, "What the fuck are you looking at?" Appellant then shot Pierre from about 10 feet away, the shot striking Mr. Pierre in the groin and destroying his left testicle. (1 RT 202-206, 209-210.)

Appellant was arrested on May 30, 2007. The gun used in both shootings was found in the closet in which appellant was hiding when he was arrested. (2 RT 323, 325, 352.)

A Corona Police Department gang expert testified that appellant was a member of a particular "clique" or faction of the main Hispanic gang in Corona, which was known as Corona Varios Locos (CVL)⁴, and that the shootings were committed for the benefit of, at the direction of, or in association with that gang. (3 RT 450, 451-455.)

ARGUMENT

I.

APPELLANT WAS PUNISHED SEPARATELY AND CONSCUTIVELY FOR THE GANG PARTICIPATION CHARGE (§ 186.22(a)) AND FOR THE VIOLATIONS OF SECTIONS 245, SUBDIVISION (a)(2) AND 12021, WHICH SUPPLIED THE PROOF OF ONE OF THE ELEMENTS OF THE GANG CHARGE; HIS CONVICTION OF THE GANG PARTICIPATION CHARGE, THEREFORE, RESULTED FROM THE COMMISSION OF A SINGLE "ACT OR OMISSION" AND SEPARATE SENTENCING FOR THAT CHARGE WAS BARRED BY SECTION 654

Section 654 applies in two different situations -- first, where a single act violates more than one penal statute, and, second, where a defendant

⁴ Appellant testified that he "claimed," or was a member of, CVL, but that CVL was not a gang. CVL was Corona. Claiming CVL was just a way of showing where one was from. (3 RT 490, 525.)

commits more than one act violating more than one statute as part of an "indivisible course of conduct" undertaken with but a single intent or objective.

In both cases, section 654 prohibits multiple punishment. However, it is only in the latter situation that the defendant's intent and objective become relevant. In the former situation, the mere fact that the defendant's single act violates more than one statute is sufficient to implicate section 654 and preclude punishment for each statute violated by the defendant's single act.

In this case, the application of either the "single act" or "indivisible course of conduct" test requires that appellant's sentences for violating section 186.22(a) be stayed because the crimes of assault with a firearm and ex-felon in possession of a firearm constituted the only proof of the "promote/further/assist" element necessary for a conviction of the gang participation charge. Thus, one act violated more than one statute and, at the same time, constituted an indivisible course of conduct. As a result, the imposition of separate, consecutive sentences for appellant's convictions of violating section 186.22, subdivision (a) exceeded the trial court's authority.

A. The Street Terrorism Enforcement and Prevention Act

In 1988, the legislature enacted the Street Terrorism Enforcement and Prevention Act (the STEP Act) as a way of dealing with the "crisis . . . caused by violent street gangs" (§ 186.21.)

To this end, the STEP Act provides enhanced penalties for a defendant convicted of any felony committed "for the benefit of, at the direction of, or in association with" a criminal street gang, as that term is defined in the statute. (§ 186.22, subd. (b).)

In addition, the STEP Act makes it a crime punishable by up to a year in the county jail or by 16 months, two or three years in state prison to "actively participate" in a criminal street gang. (§ 186.22(a).)

Section 186.22(a), which defines the substantive crime created by the STEP Act, provides as follows:

Any person who actively participates in any criminal street gang with knowledge that its members engage in or have engaged in a pattern of criminal gang activity, and who willfully promotes, furthers, or assists in any felonious criminal conduct by members of that gang, shall be punished by imprisonment in a county jail for a period not to exceed one year, or by imprisonment in the state prison for 16 months, or two or three years.

A violation of section 186.22(a) requires the prosecution to prove that (1) the defendant actively participated in a criminal street gang (2) with knowledge that its members engage in or have engaged in a pattern of criminal gang activity, and (3) he willfully promoted, furthered, or assisted in felonious criminal conduct by members of the that gang. (*People v. Lamas* (2007) 42 Cal.4th 516, 523.)

The third element of the gang participation offense, and the one at issue in this case -- that the defendant promote, further, or assist felonious criminal conduct by gang members -- has been held to be satisfied by the defendant's own commission of an underlying felony offense. Thus, a gang member who commits a felony also promotes, furthers and assists felonious criminal conduct by a gang member (himself) by committing that felony. (*People v. Ngoun* (2001) 88 Cal.App.4th 432, 436; *People v. Salcido* (2007) 149 Cal.App.4th 356, 369-370; contra, *People v. Rodriguez* (2010) 188 Cal.App.4th 722, 734-735, review granted January 12, 2011, S187680.)

In the present case the jury was instructed in accord with this principle that the "promote/further/ assist" element of the gang participation charge was satisfied by proof of appellant's commission of the crimes of assault

with a firearm and ex-felon in possession of a firearm. (2 CT 359-360; 3 RT 637-639.) In addition, the prosecutor argued that appellant satisfied the same element of the charge by the commission of the same underlying offenses, stating, "In this situation we're dealing with a crime he committed himself. How do we know he actively participated? The circumstances of his offense." (Supp. RT 99-100.)

It is clear from the court's instructions and the prosecutor's argument that the jury's verdict on the gang participation charge was based solely on appellant's commission of the underlying felonies.

B. Section 654 Bars Multiple Punishment Where a "Single Act or Omission" Violates More than One Penal Statute, or Where More than One Statute Is Violated by the Commission of More than One Act in an "Indivisible Course of Conduct" Committed with but One Intent or Objective

Section 654, subdivision (a), in pertinent part, provides as follows: "An act or omission that is punishable in different ways by different provisions of law shall be punished under the provision that provides for the longest potential term of imprisonment, but in no case shall the act or omission be punished under more than one provision."

Generally, section 654 applies in two different situations. The first is where, as the statute expressly provides, a single act violates more than one statute. For example, in *Neal v. State of California* (1960) 55 Cal.2d 11, the defendant threw gasoline into a married couple's bedroom and ignited it, severely burning both individuals. (*Id.* at p. 15.) In that case, the act of throwing the gasoline and setting the room ablaze supported convictions for attempted murder and arson. (*Id.* at p. 18.) However, because the defendant's single act of throwing and igniting the gasoline constituted violations of more than one statute he could be punished only for the crime providing the greater sentence. (*Id.* at p. 20.)

Similarly, where a defendant rapes a child under the age of 14, that single act constitutes not only a violation of section 261, subdivision (a)(2) (forcible rape), but a violation of section 288, subdivision (b) (forcible lewd act with a child) as well. In that situation, separate punishment for both crimes is barred by section 654. (*People v. Siko* (1988) 45 Cal.3d 820, 823.)

Where a single "act or omission" violates more than one statute, "the distinct crimes may be charged in separate counts and may result in multiple verdicts of guilt, [but] the trial court may impose sentence for only one offense -- the one carrying the highest punishment." (*People v. Liu* (1996) 46 Cal.App.4th 1119, 1135.)

However, "few if any crimes . . . are the result of a single act." (*Neal v. State of California, supra,* 55 Cal.2d at p. 19.) For that reason, courts have expanded the application of section 654 to include situations in which a defendant commits *more* than one act violating more than one statute if the acts comprise an "indivisible course of conduct" undertaken with a single intent or objective. (*Ibid.; In re Jose P.* (2003) 106 Cal.App.4th 458, 468.)

For example, a person who enters a building with the intent to commit theft once inside and thereafter steals property inside the building can only be punished for the greater of the two offenses thus committed even though the person commits more than one act (entering the building and stealing property) resulting in more than one violation of the criminal law (burglary and theft), because both crimes are committed with but a single objective -- to steal property from inside the building. (*People v. McFarland* (1962) 58 Cal.2d 748, 762.)

In the judicially created "indivisible course of conduct" situation, separate punishment for each offense is permitted only if the defendant acted with a separate criminal objective or intent with respect to each "act or omission." (*People v. Latimer* (1993) 5 Cal.4th 1203, 1207-1208; *People v. Beamon* (1973) 8 Cal.3d 625, 637-639.) Thus, the issue of whether there was

more than one "act or omission" within the meaning of section 654 in this context, and whether, therefore, multiple punishment is permissible, depends upon the "intent and objective" of the defendant. If all the acts and offenses are "merely incidental to, or were the means of accomplishing or facilitating one objective, [the] defendant may be found to have harbored a single intent and therefore may be punished only once." (*People v. Harrison* (1989) 48. Cal.3d 321, 335; *Neal v. State of California, supra,* 55 Cal.2d at p.19.)

The issue in any "indivisible course of conduct" case, therefore, is whether the defendant entertained single or multiple criminal objectives in committing the crimes for which he suffered convictions. (*People v. Adams* (1975) 14 Cal.3d 629, 635.) For multiple punishments to be valid in such a situation, "there must be evidence to support a finding the defendant formed a separate intent and objective for each offense for which he was sentenced." (*People v. Adams* (1982) 137 Cal.App.3d 346, 355.)

The trial court's express or implied findings on this issue will be upheld on appeal if they are supported by substantial evidence. (*People v. Osband* (1996) 13 Cal.4th 622, 730.) A court acts in excess of its jurisdiction when it erroneously stays or fails to stay a sentence pursuant to section 654. Any such sentence is unauthorized. (*People v. Scott* (1994) 9 Cal.4th 331, 354, fn. 17.) "Errors in the applicability of section 654 are corrected on appeal regardless of whether the point was raised by objection in the trial court or assigned as error on appeal." (*People v. Perez* (1979) 23 Cal.3d 545, 549-550, fn. 3.)

C. Appellant's Conviction for Being an Active Participant in a Criminal Street Gang Was Supported Solely by his Commission of the Crimes of Assault with a Firearm and Being an Ex-felon in Possession of a Firearm; His Commission of the Gang Participation Offense Was, Therefore, Based upon the Same Act or Omission as his Commission of the Other Offenses, and Separate Sentencing for the Gang Participation Charge Was Precluded by Section 654

Section 186.22, subdivision (a) makes it a crime to participate actively in a criminal street gang with knowledge that the gang's members engage in or have engaged in a pattern of criminal gang activity and to promote, further, or assist any felonious criminal conduct by members of that gang. (*People v. Lamas, supra,* 42 Cal.4th at p. 523.)

Appellant was convicted of two counts of violating this statute, one conviction correlating to each shooting incident. The trial court sentenced appellant to consecutive eight-month terms for each such violation. The imposition of separate, consecutive sentences for these violations was prohibited by section 654's prohibition against multiple punishment for the same "act or omission."

Because the "promote/further/assist" element of the gang participation offense has been held to be satisfied by the defendant's own commission of a felony offense (*People v. Ngoun, supra*, 88 Cal.App.4th at p. 436; *People v. Salcido, supra*, 149 Cal.App.4th at pp. 369-370), the court instructed the jury using CALCRIM No. 1400 that appellant's conduct would satisfy that element if:

[t]he defendant willfully assisted, furthered, or promoted felonious criminal conduct by members of the gang either by: a. directly and actively committing a felony offense; OR b. aiding and abetting a felony offense. ¶ Felonious criminal conduct means committing or attempting to commit any of the following crimes: . . . Assault with a Firearm, PC 245(A)(2) or Felon in Possession of a Firearm, PC 12021.

(2 CT 359; 3 RT 637-638, emphasis added.)

Similarly, the prosecutor argued that appellant satisfied that same element of the offense by committing the underlying crimes. "In this situation we're dealing with a crime he committed himself. How do we know he actively participated? The circumstances of his offense." (Supp. RT 99-100.)

Thus, the jury could *only* have convicted appellant of the gang participation charge if it found that he promoted, furthered, and assisted felonious criminal conduct by members of his gang by committing the crimes of assault with a firearm and possession of a firearm by an ex-felon. The court's instructions and the prosecutor's argument made it clear to the jury that it could rely solely on appellant's commission of those two offenses to satisfy that element.

People v. Sanchez (2009) 179 Cal.App.4th 1297 presented an issue identical to this case. In Sanchez, the defendant robbed two employees of a pizza restaurant at gunpoint. He was convicted of two counts of robbery as well as one count of being an active participant in a criminal street gang in violation of section 186.22(a). (Id. at p. 1301.) As in this case, the underlying offenses -- the robberies -- provided the only proof of the "promote/further/assist" element of the gang participation charge. (Ibid.)

Under these circumstances, Division Two of the Fourth Appellate District held that section 654 barred separate sentencing for the gang participation charge and for the underlying felonies that supplied the only proof of the "promote/further/assist" element of that charge because "almost by definition, defendant had to have the same intent and objective in committing all of these crimes." (*People v. Sanchez, supra,* 179 Cal.App.4th at p. 1316.) The *Sanchez* court analogized the situation in that case to the long-standing rule that section 654 bars separate sentencing for a conviction of first-degree murder based on a felony-murder theory and for the underlying felony that made the homicide a first-degree murder. (*People v.*

Sanchez, supra. 179 Cal.App.4th at p. 1315, citing *People v. Meredith* (1981) 29 Cal.3d 682; *People v. Boyd* (1990) 222 Cal.App.3d 541; *People v. Mulqueen* (1970) 9 Cal.App.3d 532; and *People v. Magee* (1963) 217 Cal.App.2d 443.)

This case involves exactly the same principle. That is, as in the felony-murder example, appellant cannot be punished for the crime that supplied the only proof of one of the elements of the gang participation charge and for the crime of gang participation as well.

In this case, however, Division One of the same court held that section 654 did not bar separate sentencing for appellant's convictions of the gang participation charge and for the underlying felonies that supplied the proof of "promote/further/assist" element of that charge. Division One based its conclusion on two separate grounds. First, the court found it "somewhat incongruous" that the perpetrator of a gang crime could be convicted of violating section 186.22(a) but that section 654 would bar separate punishment for that offense. (*People v. Mesa* (2010) 186 Cal.App.4th 773, 786, review granted October 27, 2010, S185688.) That, of course, is no objection at all. Section 654 is designed to do exactly that where one act violates more than one statute. (*In re Wright* (1967) 65 Cal.2d 650, 653 ["Section 654 forbids multiple punishment by imposition of the proscribed multiple sentences, but not multiple convictions"].)

In addition, Division One held that appellant's violation of section 186.22(a) did not depend "solely on the underlying offense." Rather. according to the court, it depended on the commission of the underlying offense *and* the separate act of actively participating in a criminal street gang. (*People v. Mesa, supra*, 186 Cal.App.4th at p. 786.) For that reason, according to Division One, appellant's violation of section 186.22(a), unlike the felony-murder example relied upon by the *Sanchez* court, depended on conduct separate from the underlying felony offense.

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