In the Supreme Court of the State of California

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

v.

TOMMY ANGEL MESA,

Defendant and Appellant.

Case No. S185688



APR 1 8 2011

Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk

Deputy

Appellate District Division One, Case No. D056280
Riverside County Superior Court, Case No. RIF137046
The Honorable Helios J. Hernandez, Judge

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

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

ARGUMENT

I. SECTION 654 DOES NOT BAR PUNISHMENT IN THIS CASE, BECAUSE THE MULTIPLE VICTIM EXCEPTION APPLIES

The legislative history for section 186.22, subdivision (a)², demonstrates a legislative recognition that active participation in a criminal street gang has a separate victim than a defendant's general felonious conduct. Thus, as the Court of Appeal noted below, the multiple victim exception prohibits section 654's application in this context. (Slip Op. at p. 19-20.) Appellant should be punished for victimizing White and Pierre by

² Respondent has separately requested judicial notice of several relevant portions of the legislative history for the enactment of section 186.22, subdivision (a), part of what was known as, "The California Street Terrorism and Prevention Act," or "The STEP Act."

assaulting them with a firearm, but, he should also be separately punished for victimizing his community. When enacting the substantive gang participation offense, the Legislature clearly intended that defendants guilty of the gang participation offense be punished more harshly than those without similar gang affiliation because of the separate harm inflicted on the community.

A. Legal principles related to section 654

Section 654, subdivision (a) provides that,

[a]n act or omission that is punishable in different ways by different provisions of law shall be punished under the provision that provides for the longest potential term of imprisonment, but in no case shall the act or omission be punished under more than one provision.

Section 654 applies to sentencing for crimes resulting from an indivisible course of conduct which violates more than one statute. (*People v. Latimer* (1993) 5 Cal.4th 1203, 1208.) This Court has explained that when more than one criminal act is shown, section 654 still may bar multiple punishment in some circumstances. This is so because

[s]ection 654 has been applied not only where there was but one 'act' in the ordinary sense ... but also where a course of conduct violated more than one statute and the problem was whether it comprised a divisible transaction which could be punished under more than one statute within the meaning of section 654.'
[Citation.] [¶] Whether a course of criminal conduct is divisible and therefore gives rise to more than one act within the meaning of section 654 depends on the intent and objective of the actor. If all of the offenses were incident to one objective, the defendant may be punished for any one of such offenses but not for more than one.

(Neal v. State of California (1960) 55 Cal.2d 11, 19 (Neal).) Where a defendant harbors multiple or simultaneous objectives, independent of and not incidental to each other, the rule against multiple punishments is inapplicable. (People v. Beamon (1973) 8 Cal.3d 625, 639.) A defendant

may be punished for each violation committed in pursuit of each objective, even if the violations shared common acts or were parts of an otherwise indivisible course of conduct. (*Ibid.*)

In an often quoted passage from *Neal*, this Court explained the rationale behind section 654:

The purpose of the protection against multiple punishment is to insure that the defendant's punishment will be commensurate with his criminal liability. A defendant who commits an act of violence with the intent to harm more than one person or by a means likely to cause harm to several persons is more culpable than a defendant who harms only one person. For example, a defendant who chooses a means of murder that places a planeload of passengers in danger, or results in injury to many persons, is properly subject to greater punishment than a defendant who chooses a means that harms only a single person. This distinction between an act of violence against the person that violates more than one statute and such an act that harms more than one person is well settled. Section 654 is not applicable where one act has two results each of which is an act of violence against the person of a separate individual.

(Neal v. State, supra, 55 Cal.2d at pp. 20-21, internal quotations omitted.) The test established in Neal to determine whether or not section 654 is applicable to a defendant's convictions, has three parts. The first question is: can a "separate and distinct act...be established as the basis of each conviction, or [was] ... a single act ... committed that [violated] more than one statute"? (Neal v. State, supra, 55 Cal.2d at p. 19.) The Neal court went on to recognize, "[f]ew if any crimes, however, are the result of a single physical act. Section 654 has been applied not only where there was but one 'act' in the ordinary sense ... but also where a course of conduct violated more than one statute and the problem was whether it comprised a divisible transaction which could be punished under more than one statute within the meaning of section 654." (Ibid.)

This brings us to the second question. When a defendant has committed more than one act (and thus, a course of conduct), is the course of conduct divisible? To answer this question, *Neal* explains, "[w]hether a course of criminal conduct is divisible and therefore gives rise to more than one act within the meaning of section 654 depends on the intent and objective of the actor." (*Neal v. State, supra*, 55 Cal.2d at p. 19) Where the defendant harbors multiple intents or objectives, the third, and final, question is whether or not all of the "offenses were incident to one objective." If they were, "the defendant may be punished for any one of such offenses but not for more than one." Conversely, where the offenses were incident to multiple, divergent objectives, the defendant may be punished for all of his separate criminal objectives.

There is an exception to section 654's prohibition against multiple punishment where the single criminal act or indivisible course of conduct involved multiple victims. The "multiple victims" exception "permits one unstayed sentenced per victim of all the violent crimes the defendant commits incidental to a single criminal intent." (*People v. Garcia* (1995) 32 Cal.App.4th 1756, 1784.) This exception was judicially created based, in part, on this Court's holding in *Neal*:

The purpose of the protection against multiple punishment is to insure that the defendant's punishment will be commensurate with his criminal liability. A defendant who commits an act of violence with the intent to harm more than one person or by a means likely to cause harm to several persons is more culpable than a defendant who harms only one person.

(Neal v. State, supra, 55 Cal.2d at p. 20; see also People v. Oates (2004) 32 Cal.4th 1048, 1063.) Thus, "section 654 does not apply if 'one act has two results each of which is an act of violence against the person of a separate individual." (People v. Ridley (1965) 63 Cal.2d 671, 678.) This is because, "[t]he commission of multiple violent offenses against different individuals

imports a higher degree of culpability than the commission of a single offense against one individual." (*People v. Massie, supra,* 66 Cal.2d at pp. 899, 908.)

B. Legislative intent behind section 186.22, subdivision (a)

The legislative intent in passing the STEP Act is related in section 186.21, which reads, in part,

It is the intent of the Legislature in enacting this chapter to seek the eradication of criminal activity by street gangs by focusing upon patterns of criminal gang activity and upon the organized nature of street gangs, which together, are the chief source of terror created by street gangs.

(§ 186.21.) In addition to this codified declaration, the entire history of the bill demonstrates a legislative intent that gang crimes be punished in an effort to deter gang behavior. The Legislative Counsel's Digest for the chaptered version of the bill reads, "Under existing law, there are no provisions which specifically make the commission of criminal offenses by individuals who are members of street gangs a separate and *distinctly punished* offense[.]" (Leg. Counsel's Dig., Assem. Bill 2013 (1987-1988 Reg. Sess.) March 6, 1987, at p. 1, emphasis added.)

When the bill was before the Assembly Committee on Public Safety, the issue being addressed was described as follows:

Current law contains no provisions which specifically make commission of criminal offenses by members of criminal street gangs a separate offense from the crime actually committed.... This bill would make it an alternate felony/misdemeanor, punishable by up to one year in the county jail, or 16 months, two or three years in state prison, to actively participate in a criminal street gang with knowledge that its members engage in or have engaged in a pattern of criminal activity and willfully promote, further, or assist in any felonious conduct by gang members.

(Assem. Com. on Public Safety, Report on Assem. Bill 2013 (1987-1988 Reg. Sess.) as amended July 9, 1987, at p. 1.)

One of the arguments raised by the opposition was that sending gang members to prison would not necessarily have the desired effect. (*Id.* at p.

3.) In response to this opposition, the author of the bill replied:

It is true that certain gang members who have been to prison are regarded as having greater status when they are released. But what is the alternative that the opponents of AB 2013 would suggest? Surely, society cannot tie its hands and refuse to punish gang related crime because of this factor. Certainly, the gang members who are sent to prison are removed from their street [sic] environment for the duration of their sentence. Experts believe that when hard core gang members are removed from the gang, the gang will itself dissipate, or at least have its criminal activity greatly reduced.

(Assem. Com. On Public Safety, Rep. on Assem. Bill 2013, "A Reply Memorandum", at p. 3, emphasis added.)

In addition, when addressing a concern about the constitutional implications of the bill, the author responded, "This bill imposes sanctions on active participation in the gang only when the defendant knows of felonious criminal activity and willfully promotes, furthers or assists it." (*Id.* at p. 4.) This demonstrates a clear intention that such active participation would be met with "criminal sanctions."

When the bill was in front of the Ways and Means committee, it was described as "a comprehensive law to impose penalties on participation in a criminal street gang." (Assem. Ways and Means Committee, Republican Analysis of Assem. Bill 2013, (1987-1988 Reg. Sess.) August, 20, 1987, at p. 1.) The analysis from the Ways and Means Committee included concern regarding the fiscal impact of the measure which would increase prison costs by imposing lengthier sentences and additional prison commitments. (*Id.* at Analysis of Assem. Bill 2013, as amended August 18, 1987, at p. 3.)

Before the Senate Committee on Judiciary, the purpose of the bill was described as an effort, "to provide law enforcement officials with the legal tools to 'put the growing number of murdering, drug-pushing youth street gang members behind bars." (Senate Committee on Judiciary, Analysis of AB 2013, hearing date March 22, 1988, at p. 3.)

In describing the substantive gang offense, the report stated, under this provision, an individual who actively participated in a gang which had established a pattern of criminal gang activity, as defined, and who willfully promoted felonious conduct by that gang would be subject to "wobbler" penalties, whether or not he or she had participated in the crimes.

(*Id.* at p. 4, emphasis added.)

C. The multiple victim exception applies in this context

The legislative history makes clear that the Legislature sought to address the unique harm inflicted on communities as a result of the crimes committed by street gangs. This legislative intent comports with the recognized exception to section 654 in cases involving multiple victims. Thus, the multiple victim exception to the section 654 punishment bar is applicable in this context.

In passing the STEP Act, the Legislature was clearly concerned with the unique danger posed by criminal street gangs and the victimization of California's communities. Several quotes from section 186.21, which states the Legislature's intent in ratifying the STEP Act, demonstrate this:

The Legislature hereby finds and declares that it is the right of every person, regardless of race, color, creed, religion, national origin, gender, age, sexual orientation, or handicap, to be secure and protected from fear, intimidation, and physical harm caused by the activities of violent groups and individuals.

The Legislature... further finds that the State of California is in a state of crisis which has been caused by violent street gangs whose members threaten, terrorize, and

commit a multitude of crimes against the peaceful citizens of their neighborhoods. *These activities, both individually and*

collectively, present a clear and present danger to public order and safety and are not constitutionally protected.

(§ 186.21, emphasis added.) As the Court of Appeal noted in its opinion, [w]e think it is worthwhile at the outset to recognize that in both its findings and in describing prohibited conduct, the Legislature was plainly focused on patterns of gang activity and the consequent terror those patterns of activity engender.

(Slip op. at p. 12.)

The legislative history clearly indicates that the Legislature recognized the victimization of communities at the hands of criminal street gangs, and the STEP Act was ratified in an effort to combat this victimization. Given the unique legislative intent in enacting the substantive gang crime, section 654 should not apply in this context because the multiple victim exception applies. (Cf. People v. Hicks (1993) 6 Cal.4th 784, 792 [looking to the legislative history of section 667.6, subd. (c) to find an implicit exception to section 654's prohibition on multiple punishment.) Criminal street gangs pose a substantial threat to the safety and security of the communities in which they operate. In enacting the substantive gang participation count, the Legislature sought to punish active participants for their role in victimizing the communities in this manner. Accordingly, the section 654 bar to multiple punishment is not applicable because here the two crimes involve different victims. Ghalen White and Alvin Pierre were the victims of appellant's assaults with the deadly weapon, but the community as a whole was the victim of appellant's active participation in a criminal street gang. The Court of Appeal here recognized this and aptly described the multiple victim exception and its applicability to this case:

Significantly, liability under the statute and liability for an underlying offense will in most instances involve distinct criminal objectives and quite distinct impacts. Here, the record supports the inference the shootings were intended to both harm the individual victims and to demonstrate to the entire community the power of Mesa's gang. The distinct nature of these objectives and consequences can be seen vividly in the behavior of Ghalen's son Jeron.

Jeron plainly knew the danger Mesa's gang posed to him and to his prom date before any shots were fired. The pattern of Mesa's gang activity clearly had already had its impact. The fear Mesa and his fellow gang members created in the mind of that young man and his date on the evening of their prom was the very focus of the Legislature in enacting the Street Gang Act. (See § 186.21.) Importantly, Mesa would have and could have reinforced those fears by committing any number of different and lesser offenses against Jeron's father or his property and still been liable under section 186.22, subdivision (a). Mesa chose to assault Ghalen with a firearm. The shots Mesa fired had a direct and devastating impact on Ghalen; however, in light of the express purposes of the Street Crime Act, we cannot turn a blind eye to the separate and unique impact Mesa's shots no doubt had on Jeron, his date and anyone else in the vicinity who witnessed the shooting or later heard about it. They plainly had to have been terrorized by the shooting and their fear of the gang had to have been amplified. The same is true with respect to the shooting of Pierre. Pierre not only suffered grave harm, but any of the shopkeepers, their employees or members of the public who witnessed the shooting were no doubt terrorized by the act. It is that terror which the Legislature expressly addressed in section 186.21. In this sense, separate punishment under section 186.22 is far closer to the well-recognized exception to section 654 which permits multiple punishment when a defendant's conduct has injured more than one victim than it is to the felony-murder rule, relied upon by the court in *People v. Sanchez*. (See e.g. People v. Williams (1992) 9 Cal. App. 4th 1465, 1473, 12 Cal.Rptr.2d 243.)

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